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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.9:17-CV-80917ROSENBERG/REINHART
JOHN CALDWELL,
Plaintiff,
V.

JAMES A. ALBANO, JR, and
TOWN OF JUPITER, FLRIDA,

Defendant.
/

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR FINAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT
AND DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT

THIS CAUSE is before the Courdn Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment
on Count | of the Amended Complaint [DE 48] and Defendant James A. Albano, Jr.’s Motion for
Final Summary Judgment and Incorporated Memorandum of Law [DE 64]. The Court has
carefully consideredboth Motions,and the parties’ respective filings in support thereof and in
opposition theretoand is otherwise fully advised in the premises. For the reasons set forth
below, Defendant’'s Motion for Final Summary JudgmenGRANTED andPlaintiff's Motion
for Partial 3Immary Judgment BENIED.

l. INTRODUCTION

This is an action for deprivation of civil right®laintiff John Caldwell alleges that
Defendant James A. Albano, Jr., an officer employed by the Town of Palm Beach Poli
Department, arrested him without probable cause, entered his home without a wadrasgd
excessive force against him in violatiohhis Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights.

Plaintiffs Amended Complaint [DE 7¢ontains seven counggainstDefendant Alban@nd the
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Town of Jupiter, FloridaFFollowing Plaintiff's voluntary dismissal of Counts throughVI, see

DE 25, andhis Court’s dismissal aCounts | and Il against the Town, Count VII, aidclaims

against Defendant IBano in his official capacityseeDE 39, the only clans remaining are
Counts | and Il against Defendant Albano in his individual capacity.

In Count |, Plaintiff alleges that DefendaAtibanoviolated his Fourth Amendment rights
by “opening the door to Plaintiff's residence with neither permission nor raamta and
“reaching into Plaintiff's home, physically grabbing Plaintiff, and dmagdpim out of his home”
without a warrant or probable cauS=eDE 7 11 4344.Consistent with the partiebtriefing on
their respectivsummary judgmennotions the Court construes Count | as asserting claims for
false arrestyarrantlesentry, and excessive forge violation of Plaintiff's Fourth Amendment
rights In Count I, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant Albano violated his Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendment rights by “[h]andcuffing Plaintiff witho{&] warrant and without probable wse,”
without stating that Plaintiff was under arrest or informing Plaintiff of Misanda rights,
“inflictling] . . . extrajudicial punishment . . . without arrest,” ahas[ing] . . . excessive and
unnecessary force and violenc&eée id.fY 48-52. The Court construes Count Il as asserting
claims for false arrest and excessive force in violation of Plaintkffth and Fourteenth
Amendment rights.

Defendant Albano has moved for summary judgment in his favor on both Count | and
Count Il. Plaintiff has moved for summary judgment in his favor on Count | only.

Il. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate where “the movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a mattet dféaw.

R. Civ. P. 56(a). The existence of a factual dispute is not by itself suffgrieannds to defeat a



motion for summary judgment; rather, “the requirement is that there lgemaneissue of
material fact.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 2448 (1986). A dispute is
genuine if “a reasonable trier of fact could return judgment for themmmnng party.”
Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Fla. v. United States6 F.3d 1235, 1243 (11th Cir. 2008)
(citing Anderson 477 U.S. at 24#48). A factis material if “it would affect the outcome of the
suit under the governing lawid. (citing Anderson477 U.S. at 247-48).

In deciding a summary judgment motion, the Court views the facts in the light most
favorable to the nomoving party and draws ateasonable inferences in that party’s favor.
SeeDavis v. Williams451 F.3d 759, 763 (11th Cir. 2006). The Court does not weigh conflicting
evidence.See Skop v. City of Atlantd85 F.3d 1130, 1140 (11th Cir. 2007). Thus, upon
discovering a genuine dligte of material fact, the Court must deny summary judgntee. id.

[I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND *

On the morning of November 25, 2016, Plaintiff and a woman by the name of Pamela
Paxton were shouting at each other and going in and out of Plaintiff's aparmméumpiter,
Florida. See DE 65, Defendant's Statement of Material Fa¢S8OMF”) fY1-3;> DE 67,
Plaintiffs Response to Defendant’s Statement of Material HaRessponse”){{ 1-3. Plaintiff
was wearing a yellow shirt. SOMHY Response { 4.

At approximately 9:45 a.m. that day, an unidentified persalted 911 to report a
domestic incident occurring at Plaintiff's addreéS&MF 15; Response  Fhe caller stated that

a man namg John and a woman named Pamela, both of whom were possibly intoxicated, we

! The facts set forth in this section are undisputed unless otherwisatéti Where a dispute exists, the Court has
viewed the facts in the light most favorable to Plaintiff and drawn all ned® inferences in his favyaaxs the Court
disposes of thisase on DefendantMotion. See Davis v. Williamgl51 F.3d 759, 763 (11th Cir. 2006).

2 While the Court citesnainly to Defendant’s Statement of Material Fa@& 65] and Plaintiff's Response thereto
[DE 67], the Court has reviewed all of the evidewted in those filingsand hasletermined that each fact recited
hereinis properly supporteldy the record



fighting and running in and out of Plaintiff's apartment. SOMF § 7; Responsé&Hg caller also
stated that John was wearing a yellow shirt. SOMF { 7; Response | 7.

Defendant and Officer Nicholas Brandt, both of whom were working as patroérsff
for the Town of Jupiter Police Department on November 25, 2016, responded to the call. SOMF
199-10; Response T¥F10. Defendant was advised that he was responding to a reported
domestic incident involving a man named John and a woman named Pamela whightiage
in front or outside of a particular apartment; that both John and Pam were possibbatathx
and that John was wearing a yellow shirt. SOMF { 10; Response { 10.

Shortly after arriving on the scene, Defendant saw two people exatitpect aprtment;
these two people matched the description provided by the 911 &ODdiF §11; Response
7 11. Officer Brandt advised Defendant that the man, who was wearing a yelldaywwssr
named John. SOMFXR; Response 12.Both Defendant and Officer Brdhwere familiar with
and recognized the woman as Pamela Paxton. SOM¥-Response § 13.

Defendant walked toward Plaintiff and said, “You, sir, come here.” SOMB;
Response 16 DE 657; DE 658. Plaintiff began walking toward Defendant. SOMRG]
Response 116; DE 657; DE 658. Defendant then asked Plaintiff, “What’s your name?” SOMF
116; Response 16; DE 657; DE 658. Plaintiff did not answer and instead turned and began
walking back towardis apartment. SOMF 16; Response J6; DE 657; DE 658. As he did
so, Officer Brandt identified him as “JohnSOMF 116; Response J6; DE 657; DE 658.
Defendant then said to Plaintiff, “John, come here.” SOMB;fResponse 16; DE 657; DE
65-8. Plaintiff, who was not yet inside his apartment, did not comply with that commamdE SO
1 16; Response 16; DE 657; DE 658. Defendanthen said, “John don’t go inside. You need to

follow my orders because I'm here to investigate. Come here.” SOME-Response 17; DE



65-7; DE 658. Plaintiff stopped and turned toward Defendant, then turned back and walked
through a screen door into his apartmest Defendant sagiiDon’t go inside the house. Come
here. Why are you going inside the hous8®MF 117; Response 17; DE 657; DE 658.
During thisentireexchange, Defendant was wearing his police uniform,neaer more than a
few feet away from Plaitiff, was speaking loudly, and was walking toward Plaintiff and the
door to Plaintiff's apartment. SOMA[L749; Response {[7/—19;DE 657; DE 658. Plaintiff
knew that Defendant was a police officer. SOMEB{ Response 1 18.

At this point, the parties’ respective versions of events begin to diverge. Viewing the
facts in the light most favorable to Plafhtand drawing all reasonable inferences in his favor,
Defendant reached across the threshold of Plaintiff's apartmetéd Plaintiff outside and
threw him to the groundSOMF 925; Response %5, Additional Material Facts Submitted by
Plaintiff, DE 67 at6 1 1+12. With Defendant’'s assistance, Officer Brandt then placed
handcuffs on Plaintiff. SOMF %9; Response ¥9. Defendant arrested Plaintiff foesisting an
officer without violence in vitation of Florida Statutes §43.02. SOMF { 30; Response °30.

Shortly after he was handcuffed, Plaintiff told Officer Brandt that he had ingaed.
Additional Material Facts Submitted by Plaintiff, DE 67 at 7 { D8&fendant then transported
Plaintiff to Jupiter Medical CentdfJMC”) for treatment SOMF 133; Response ¥3. Because
Plaintiff remained under arrest and was not free to go, Defendant handcuffedfRtaitite
hospital bed. SOMF | 34; Response { 34.

As a result of this incident, Plaifftisustained injuries to his lower middle back, left
shoulder, and right ring fingeEBOMF 135; Response 35. Plaintiff is unable to stand for long

periods of time but can sit for hours without any pain or discomfort. SORE: Response 6.

® Plaintiff later entered a plea of not guilty and the case was ultinatelgdafter anolle proseui was enteredSee
Additional Material Facts Submitted by Plaintiff, DE 678 24.
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While Plaintiff's right ring finger is not as straight as it once was and nowahsigght bend,
Plaintiff describes this as “no big deahd has no physical limitations in this fing&OMF

137; Response ¥7; DE 659, Deposition of John Caldwell at 91-4¥0. An X-ray of Plaintiff's

right ring finger, taken on the date of the incident, showed no evidence of a fracture or
dislocation. SOMF $8; Response %8. While Plaintiff continues to have pain in his left
shoulder, side from Xxrays taken at JMC on the day the incident, Plaintiff has received no
treatment for his left shoulder. SOMRY; Response $9. That X-ray showed no evidence of
fracture and no acute abnormality. SOMRBOY Response 40. Plaintiff was diagnosed by
treating physicians at JIMC withhypertensive episode, mallet finger, and contusion of the upper
arm. SOMF ¥41; Response  41.

V. DISCUSSION

With respect to Count I, the Court concludes that Defendant had probable cause, or a
least arguable probable cause, to arrest Plaintiff; Defersdasatrrantless entry into Plaintiff's
home to effectuate the arrest was supported by both probable cause and axigerstamces;
and Defendant’s use of force against Plaintiff was reasonable and de miDefendant is
therefore entitled to summary judgment in his favor as to Plaintfdgns for false arrest,
warrantless entry, and excessive force in violatiohi®Fourth Amendment rightdVith respect
to Count Il, the Court concludes that Plaintiff cannot assert claims & $mtest and excessiv
force under the Fifth or Fourteenth Amendment. Defendant is therefore entitledhhoasy
judgment in his favor as to these claims.

A. Count I: False Arrest (Fourth Amendment)

An arrest made without a warrant and without probable cause violates the @onstitu

and may serve as the basis for a claim under 42 U.S.C. 8@G88% v. Khokhar884 F.3d 1290,



1297 (11th Cir. 2018jciting Brown v. City of Huntsville, Ala608 F.3d 724, 734 (11th Cir.
2010). However, “the existence of probable cause at the time of arrest is an abspoliatea ba
subsequent constitutional challenge for the arrédt(guotingBrown, 608 F.3d at 734) (internal
guotation marks omittedProbable cause exists whéthe facts and circumstances within the
officer's knowledge, of which he has reasonably trustworthy information, would caumadent
person to believe, under the circumstances shown, that the suspect has committed ti;xgpmmi
or is about to commit an offen$eCarter v. Butts Cty., Ga821 F.3d 1310, 1319 (11th Cir.
2016) (quotingKingsland v. City of Miami382 F.3d 1220, 1226 (11th Cir. 20p4internal
guotation marks omitted).

In the absence of probable cause, “a police officer is entitled to quatifrednity” if he
had only ‘arguable’ probable cause to arrest the plain@ates 884 F.3dat 1298(citing Lee v.
Ferraro, 284 F.3d 1188, 1195 (il Cir. 2002)). Arguable probable cause existahere
reasonable officers in the same circumstances and possessing the same knoawlddg
[defendant] could have believed that probable cause existed to arrest thefjplaiteidd v. City
of Enterprise 140 F.3d 1378, 1382 (11th Cir. 1998) (quotwWan Stein v. Bresche®04 F.2d
572, 579 (11th Cir1990))(internal quotation marks omitted). An officer who “reasonably but
mistakenly conclude[s] that probable cause is present” has arguable probab)escanttied to

gualified immunity, and “canndbe held personally liable for false arrestates 884 F.3dat

* Qualified immunity protects government officials performing disoretry functions from being sued in their
individual capacitiesWilson v. Layng526 U.S. 603, 609 (1999). “To receigealified immunity, a government
official first must prove that he was acting within his discretignauthority.” Cottone v. Jenne326 F.3d 1352,
1357 (11th Cir. 2003). A government official acts within his discretionatigaaity if the challenged actis were
(1) “undertaken pursuant to the performance of his duties” and (2) “witkirs¢ope of his authorityRich v.
Dollar, 841 F.2d 1558, 1564 (11th Cir. 1988). Here, there is no dispute that Deferaamicting within his
discretionary authorityThe Court must then considéwhether the plaintiff's allegations, if true, establish a
constitutional violation” and “whether the right violated is ‘clearly esthiglil.”” Barnett v. City of Florence409 F.
App’x 266, 270 (11th Cir. 2010). Thetwo questions may be considergdany orderSeePearson v. Callahgn
555 U.S. 223, 236 (2009).



1298 (quotingBrown v. City of Huntsville, Ala608 F.3d 724, A(11th Cir. 2010) (internal
guotation marks omitted).

The existence of probable cause or arguable probable cause “depends on the elements of
the alleged crime and the operative fact pattdah.{quotingBrown, 608 F.3d at 735) (internal
guotation marks omitted). In the instant case, Defendant arrestetfPlainviolating Florida
Statutes§ 843.02, which provides: “Whoever shall resist, obstruct, or oppose any offiger .
the execution of legal process or in the lawful execution of any legal duhguwioffering or
doing violence to the person of the officer, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the dirsé de
... 7 Thus, a violation of§ 843.02 occurs wheré(1) the officer was engaged in the lawful
execution of a legal duty; and (@) defendant’s action, by his words, conduct, or a combmat
thereof, constituted obstruction or resistance of that lawful dGt§e’L. v. State24 So. 3d 1181,
1185-& (Fla. 2009)citing N.H. v. State890 So. 2d 514, 5367 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2005)).
The Court considers each element in turn.

I. Whether Defendant Was Engaged in Lawful Execution of Legal Duty

It is undisputed that Defendant asked Plaintiff to identify himself, orderedtifla
multiple times to “come here” and not to go inside his apartment, and informed Pthattifie
was there for imestigative purposeSeeSOMF 16-17. The question is whether this amounts
to the lawful execution of a legal duty. The Court concludes that it does.

Under Florida law, a law enforcement officer may temporarily detainndividual
“under circumstancewhich reasonably indicate that such person has committed, is committing,
or is about to commit a violation of the criminal laws of this state or the criminal ordgahce
any municipality or county . . . .” Fla. Stat. 8§ 901.1%& determine whether a gtas justified,

the Court “must look at the totality of the circumstances of each case to see whether



detaining officer has a particularized and objective basis for suspectihgvieggdoing.” Scott
v. State 150 So. 3d 1273, 1275 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2004fernal quotation marks and citation
omitted). Similarly, the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution “permits brief
investigative stops . . . when a law enforcement officer has a particularidezbgactive basis
for suspecting theparticular person stopped of criminal activifyhe reasonable suspicion
necessary to justify such a stop is dependent upon both the content of information possessed by
police and its degree of reliabilityNavarette v. California134 S. Ct. 1683, 16872Q14)
(internal quotation marks and citations omittefp] detailed, contemporaneous report of
suspicious activity to a 911 emergency dispatcher carries with it suffioidicia of reliability
when the details and location of the described events turn out to be cddmitéd States v.
JeanCharles No. 1560309CR, 2016 WL 828830, at *4 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 3, 2016iting
Navarette 134 S. Ct. at 1689-90).

In the instant case, Defendant had sufficient reliable information to creatécalpered
and objective basis for suspecting Plaintiff of legal wrongdoing. The individual whae rttee
911 call to which Defendant responded had reportedathein named John and a woman named
Pamela were fighting and running in and out of Plaintiff's apartment anddhn was wearing a
yellow shirt SeeSOMF 115, 7. When Defendant arrived at the address specified by the caller,
only minutes after the call had been placggkDE 656, he saw two people who matched the
description provided by the callekit the subject apartmer8OMF{ 11. Officer Brandt advised
Defendant that the man, who was wearing a yellow shirt, was named Idoin12. Both
Defendant and Officer Brandt were familiar with and recognized the woman asaHaaxébn.
Id. § 13. Having confirmed the accuracy of the details provided by the cdllefendant had

sufficient reliable information to create a particularized and objective basisuBpecting



Plaintiff of legal wrongdoing,and was therefore permitted detain Plaintifftemporarily See
Navarette v. Californial34 S. Ct. 1683, 1687 (2014cott v. Statel50 So. 3d 1273, 1275 (Fla.
Dist. Ct. App. 2014)In other wordsDefendantwas engaged in the lawful execution of a legal
duty when heasked Plaintiff to identify hiself and ordered Plaintiff multiple times to “come
here” and not to go inside his apartment.

ii. Whether Plaintiff's Action Constituted Obstruction or Resistance

Plaintiff failed to identify himself when asked to do so by Defend8eeid. § 16.
Plaintiff also failed to comply with Defendant’s repeated orders to “come here” and got t
inside his apartment; Plaintiff instead turned away from Defendant and dvedkeard his
apartmentSee id.During the entire exchange, Defendant was wearing his police uniform, was
never more than a few feet away from Plaintiff, was speaking loudly, and vikiagmaward
Plaintiff and the door to Plaintiff's apartmeid. 11 18-19. Plaintiff knew that Defendant was a
police officer, see id.J 18 and Plaintiff has pointed this Court to no evidence that he did not hear
Defendant’s commandsThe Court therefore concludes that Plaintiff's actions constituted
obstruction or resistanc&eeC.E.L. v. State24 So. 3d 1181,1B6 (Fla. 2009)citing H.H. v.
State 775 So. 2d 397, 398 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 200@)pting that an individual who flees is
guilty of violating Florida Statutes § 843.0#hen he knows of the officer’s intent to detain him
and the officer is justified in making the stop at the point when the command to stopds.issue

In light of the foregoing, the Court concludes that Defendant had probable-eausea
minimum, argual@d probable causeto arrest Plaintiff foresisting an officer without violence in

violation of Florida Statutes 8§ 843.03eeCarter v. Butts Cty., Ga821 F.3d 1310, 1319 (11th

®>The Court notes that Defendant was responding to a reported domesiénirbetween a man and a womniaoth
of whom were possibly intoxicatediho were fighing with each otheoutside of the man’s apartmettnder the
circumstances, Defendant could reasonably have suspRletiedff of a number of criminal violationsncluding
but not limited to assaulseeFla. Stat. 84.011, batteryseeFla. Stat. §84.03 disorderly intoxicationsee Fla.
Stat.§ 856.011, and breach of the peace or disorderly consheffja. Stat§ 877.03.
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Cir. 2016)(defining probable causeRedd v. City of Enterprisd40 F.3d 1378, 1382 (11th Cir.
1998) (defining arguable probable causBefendant is therefore entitled to summary judgment
in his favor as to Plaintiff's claim of false arrest in violation of his Fourth Amamd rights. See
Gates v. Khokhar884 F.3d 1290, 1297-98 (11th Cir. 2018)

B. Count I: Warrantless Entry (Fourth Amendment)

It is firmly established that under the Fourth Amendment, “searches and s&igitesa
home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonableted States v. Samt236 F.3d 662,
668 (1xh Cir. 2000) (quotingPayton v. New York445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980)). However, a
warrantless entry into a home is allowed where both probable cause and ekmenstances
exist.See id(quotingUnited States v. Tohi®23 F.2d 1506, 1510 (#1Cir. 1991)).Among the
recognized situations in which exigent circumstances exist are “dangegtdf dr escape
danger of harm to police officers or the general pubigk of loss, destruction, removal, or
concealment of evidencand‘hot pursuit’ of a fleeing suspectd.

For the reasons set forth above, the Court has already condhateDefendant had
probable cause to arrest Plaintiffhe Court also concludes that exigent circumstarces
specifically, hot pursuit-justified Defendant’svarrantless entrynto Plaintiff's home which
was limited to reaching across the threshold to grab Plaintiff and effebtsateest.

“[A] suspect may not defeat an arrest which has been set in motion in a public place . . .
by the expedient of escaping to a private placdriited States v. Santand27 U.S. 38, 43
(1976). In Santana police officerslearned through an informant that the defendant possessed
money used to purchase narcotics and, when dn@yed ather house to arst her found her
standing in the doorway with a brown paper bag in her Haedd. at 40. They parked within

15 feet of the defendant, exited their vehicle, shouted “police,” and displayed thafrcateon.

11



See d. As they approached, the defendant retreated into her ;hihgsefficers followed her

through the open doorway and caught her in the vestiBde.id.After determining that the

defendant, standing in her doorway, was in a public place when the police first spagiast

her, the Supreme Court found that the officers’ warrantless entry into herhasigestified by

a hot pursuitSee idat 4243. As the Court explained, “hot pursuit means some sort of a,chase

but it need not be an extended hue and cry in and about the public streets. The fact that the

pursuit here ended almost as soon as it began did not render it any the Igasrauitogufficient

to justify the warrantless entry ton [the defendat's] house.” Id. (internal quotation marks

omitted).See also United States v. Hay834 F. App’'x 222, 226 (11th Cir. 200@)nding hot

pursuit justified warrantless entry into home to arrest defendant whecersfarrived at the

defendant’s apartment building, saw him on the doorstep, and yelled police, and the defendant

turned and saw them, recognized them as policefleshdhside: “It also appears that the officers

attempted to begin to arrest [the defendant] in public, by announcing their predecdhev

stood on the doorstep of his apartment building, and could not only because he retreated inside.”)
In the instantcase, Plaintiff was standing completely outside of his home when

Defendanffirst encountered him, when Defendant attempted to questnpwhen he ignored

Defendant’s request that he identify himselfhd whenhe disobeyedDefendant’'s repeated

commandsto “come here’by walking away from DefendanSeeSOMF | 11412, 16-17.

Defendant thereforbad probable cause to arrest Plaintiff for violating Florida Statu8s3$®?2

before Plaintiff entered his home. Defendant initiated that arrest befargifPlantered his

home.SeeDE 653, Deposition of James Albano, Jr. at 229, 23:1524, 32:4-23DE 657;

DE 658. After Defendant initiated the arrest, Plaintiff continuealking toward his apartment,

and Defendant followed him. Defendant was prevented from arresting Plaintublic only

12



because Plaintiff reached the door to his apartment before Defendant rekchid. FExigent
circumstances therefore justified Defendant’s reaching across thiealdres$ Plaintiff's home to
effectuate the arrestee Santanal27 U.Sat 42-43.

As both probable cause and exigent circumstances existed, Defendant’'s waramithes
into Plaintiff's home did not violate Plaintiff's Fourth Amendment riglidefendant igherefore
entitled to summary judgment in his favor as to this claim.

C. Count |: Excessive ForcéFourth Amendment)

“[T]he right to make an arrest or investigatory stop nemely carries with it the right to
use some degree of physical coercion or threat thereof to effe@tattiam v. Connqr490 U.S.
386, 396 (1989)citation omitted. “The ‘reasonableness’ of a particular use of force must be
judged from the perspective of a reasonable officer on the scene, rather thahew0/20
vision of hindsight.”Id. (citation omitted).“Determining whether the force used to effect a
particula seizure is ‘reasonable” requires balancing of the individual's Fourth Amertdme
interests against the relevant government intereSty.” of Los Angeles, Calif. v. Mendd87
S.Ct. 1539, 1546 (2017) (quoti@raham 490 U.S. at 396)[his determinatio requires tareful
attention to the facts and circumstances of each particular case, including thy sdévre
crime at issue, whether the suspect poses an immediate threat to the safety fideise oof
others, and whether he is actively resistangest or attempting to evade arrest by flight.
Graham 490 U.S. at 396 (citation omitted).

In addition,“the application of de minimis force, without more, will not support a claim
for excessive force in violation of the Fourth AmendmeNolin v.Isbell, 207 F.3d 1253, 1257
(11th Cir. 2000).See, e.g.id. at 125558 (finding that the arresting officer's use of fqrce

including “grabb[ing plaintiff] from behind by the shoulder and wrist, [throwing] himresjaa

13



van three or four feet away, kne®] him in the back and push[ing] his head into the side of the
van, search[ing] his groin area in an uncomfortable manner, and handcuffling]was de
minimis force);Durruthy v. Pastor 351 F.3d 10801085, 109495 (11th Cir. 2003)finding de
minimis force wherethe officerdefendant, in arresting the plaintiff for resisting an officer
without violence in violation oFlorida Statute 843.02, pulled the plaintiff onto the ground and
kneed him in the back while struggling to pin the plaintiffs arms behind him in order to
handcuff him).

With these principles in mindhe Court concludethat Defendant’'suse of force was
reasonablend de minimisBeginning withthe Grahamfactors, he Court recognizes that the
severity of Plaintiff's crime is relatively low In Florida, the offense ofesistingan dficer
without violence is a misdemeandeeFla. Stat.8 843.02. The Court notes, however, that the
circumstances surrounding the arrest made the situation more ,segef@efendant was
responding to a reported domestic incident involving a fight between a man and a.\Besan
SOMF  10. The Court also recognizes that, viewing the facts in the light most favorable to
Plaintiff and drawing all reasonable inferences m favor,Plaintiff did not posean immediate
threat to the safety of Defendant and oth®iaintiff was not carrying a weapon, had not made
any threats of violence in Defendant’s presemc®l had not committed any act of violence in
Defendant’s presencélowever Plaintiff was actively resisting arreahd attempting to evade
arrest by retreating into his home in direct contravention of Def¢isdapeated orders not to do
so.See idfY 16-18.In light of Plaintiff's failure to comply with Defendant’sxbal commands,
it is clear that some amount of force was necessary to detain Plaintiff.

Defendant’s use of force was not disproportionate to the severity of the crintle;ehe

posed by Plaintiff, and Plaintiff's resistance. Just as Plaintiff crosseththshold, Defendant

14



grabbed himthrew him to the ground, and handcuffed hirhis was no more than the amount
of force necessary to stop Plaintéivho had repeatedly disobeyed Defendant’s verbal
commands-and effectuate an arresthe Court therefore concludes that Defendant’'s use of
force was reasonabl8ee Graham490 U.S. at 396

In addition, the amount of force used by Defendaas de minimisDefendant used no
more force than that whidmas been found de minimis smmilar casesSee, e.gDurruthy, 351
F.3dat1085, 109495 Nolin, 207 F.3dcat 125, 1258 & n.4The Court also notes that Plaintiff's
injuries are limited to pain in his lower middle back (limiting his ability to stand for loriggser
of time, but notlimiting his ability to sit for long periods of timea slight bend in his right ring
finger (which causes no physical limitations and which Plaintiff descabéso big deal”), and
pain in his left shouldeiSeeSOMF 1 35—-37;DE 659, Deposition of John Caldwell at 91:44
19. Plaintiff has not sought any treatment for these injuries aside from theveécat the
hospital immediately following the inciderX-rays taken at the hospital showed no evidence of
a fracture or other acute abnormality in eitlmis shoulder or his fingeBOMF § 38 Plaintiff
was diagnosed by treating physicianghet hospitalwith a hypertensive episode, mallet finger,
and contusion of the upper arm. SOMF 41.

For all of these reasonghe Court concludes th&tefendantdid not use excessive force
against Plaintiff.Defendant is therefore entitled to summary judgment in his favor as to this

claim.

®To the extent Plaintiff's excessive force claispredicated on Defendant's use of handcuffs duRtajntiff's
arrest andwhile at the hospital immediately afterward, the Court notes that Plainsffnba alleged and has not
presented evidence ahy injury resulting from the use of handcuff§A] plaintiff asserting an excessive force
claim [must] have suffered at leastns® form of injury.”Stephens v. DeGiovanr852 F.3d 1298, 1326.29 (11th
Cir. 2017)(quotingWilliams v. Bramer180 F. 3d 699, 703 {5 Cir. 1999)).Under the circumstances of this case
Defendant’s use of handcuffs to effectuate Plaintiff's arresttargktain Plaintiff while in the hospitaloes not
constitute excessive force.

15



D. Count Il: Excessive Force and False ArrestHifth and Fourteenth Amendmentg

To the extent Plaintiff asserts a violation of his Fifth Amendnukrg processights,
Defendant is entitled to summary judgment in his favor. On the date of Plaimtifest,
Defendant was employed by tlhewn of Jupiter Police Departmei@eeSOMF  9.As alleged
in Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, the Town of Jupiter is a political subdivisioth@fState of
Florida. SeeDE 7, Amended Complaint § 2The Fifth Amendment . . protects a citizeis
rights against infringement by the federal governmeritbpstate governmeyitand is therefore
inapplicable hereSeeWeiland v. Palm Beach Cty. ShesflOffice 792 F.3d 1313, 1328 (11th
Cir. 2015)(citing Riley v. Camp130 F.3d 958, 972 n.19 (11th Cir. 1997)

To the extent Plaintiff asserts that Defendant violated his Fourteenth Amendighes
by using excessive forc&efendant is entitled to summary judgment in his favdir.[an]
excessive force claim arises out of events occurring during an arrest, utte Bmendment
governs. If[a] claim arises out of events occurring while plaintiff is a pretrial detainee, the
Fourteenth Amendment goverh&ennell v. Gilstrap559 F.3d 1212, 1216.4 (11th Cir. 2009)
(citing Garrett v. Athenlarke Cty., Ga.378 F.3d 1274, 1278.11(11th Cir. 2004); see also
Garrett, 378 F.3d at 1279 n.11 (quoti@utierrez v. City of San Antoni©39 F.3d 441, 452 {5
Cir. 1998) (“Fourteenth Amendment analysis does not begin uaftief the incidents of arrest
are completedafter the plaintiff has been released from the arresting officer’'s custadyfeer
the plaintiff has been in detention awaiting trial for a significant period of t)m&&’ any force
exerted by Defendant occurred during Plaintiff's arrést Fourteenth Amendment does not
apply to Plaintiff's excessive force claims.

To the extent Plaintiff asserts that Defendant violated his Fourteenth Amendghes

by arresting him without probable cause, Defendant is entitled to summary jtdgrhis favor.
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[A] 8 1983 claim cannot be sustained based on the filing of criminal charge
without probable cause under the substantive due process or procedural due
process protections of the Fourteenth Amendment. . .he[fjore general due

process considerations of the Fourteenth Amendment are not a fallback to protect

interests more specifically addressed by the Fourth Amendment in the § 1983

context.

Lozman v. City of Riviera BeacB9 F. Supp. 3d 1392, 1412 (S.D. Fla. 2Qt#ations omitted)

see alsdlbright v. Oliver 510 U.S. 266, 273 (1994quoting Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386,
395 (1989)) (“Where a particular Amendmentprovides an explicit textual sare of
constitutional protectionagainst a particutasort of government behaviothat Amendment, not

the more generalized notion ‘tdubstantive due press, must be the gde for analyzing these
claims’”). To the extent Plaintiff's claims are predicated on a lack of probable cause to arrest
him, such claims mudhereforebe broughtunder the Fourth Amendment, not the Fourteenth
Amendment.

Finally, while not necessary to its conclusion, the Court also notes that, in his &sgport
Recommendation on Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss the Amended Complaint, Magisitige
Garber deternmed that Plaintiffs’ allegations in support of Courk—lh which he asserts
violations of his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment righssmply repeated the allegations made
in support of Count-+in which he asserts violations of his Fourth Amendment riggesDE
33 at 9. Magistrate Judge Garber therefore applied the same analysis to thoseSdaima.
Plaintiff did not object to this approackee DE 38 at 1 (“Plaintiff does not object to the Report
and Recommendation of the Magistrate Judge.”), and the Court subsequently adopted that

portion of the Report and RecommendatsegeDE 39.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, itGRDERED AND ADJUDGED as follows:
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5.

Defendant James A. Albano, Jr.’s Motion for Final Summary Judgment [DES 64]

GRANTED,;

. Plaintiffs Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Count | of the Amended

Complaint [DE 48] iDENIED;

All other pending motions, includinglaintiff's Motion in Limine to Exclude
Testimony and Report of Defendants Expert Witness, John G. Peters [DHd46]
Defendant James A. Albano, Jr.’s Omnibus Motion in Limine [DE 71]P&NIED

AS MOOT;

Defendant James A.lBano, Jr. shall submit a proposed final judgment in Microsoft
Word format to Chambeltsy emailby no later thaguly 30, 2018 and

The Clerk of Courts directed t€CLOSE THIS CASE.

DONE and ORDERED in ChambersWest Palm Beagh-lorida, this26th day of July,

2018.
A ; v
Lj%@ﬁg,\d A ey,
Copies furnished to: ROBIN L. ROSENBERG
Counsel ofecord UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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